

Chemically mediated rheotaxis of endangered tri-spine horseshoe crab: potential dispersing mechanism to vegetated nursery habitats along the coast

Kit Yue Kwan^{1, #}, Xin Yang^{1, #}, Chun-Chieh Wang^{2, *}, Yang Kuang¹, Yulong Wen¹, Kian Ann Tan¹, Peng Xu¹, Wenquan Zhen¹, Xueping Wang¹, Junhua Zhu¹, Xing Huang¹

¹ College of Marine Sciences, Beibu Gulf Ocean Development Research Centre, Guangxi Key Laboratory of Beibu Gulf Biodiversity Conservation, Beibu Gulf University, Qinzhou, Guangxi, China

² Guangxi Key Laboratory of Marine Environmental Science, Guangxi Beibu Gulf Marine Research Center, Guangxi Academy of Sciences, Nanning, Guangxi, China

* Corresponding Author:

Chun-Chieh Wang

98 Daling Road, Nanning, Guangxi, 530007, China

Email address: chunchiehwang@gxas.cn

Co-first Author

Abstract

Background: An enhanced understanding of larval ecology is fundamental to improve the management of locally depleted horseshoe crab populations in Asia. Recent studies in the northern Beibu Gulf, China demonstrated that nesting sites of Asian horseshoe crabs are typically close to their nursery beaches with high-density juveniles distributed around mangrove, seagrass and other structured habitats.

Methods: A laboratory Y-maze chamber was used to test whether the dispersal of early-stage juvenile tri-spine horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus* is facilitated by chemical cues to approach suitable nursery habitats. The juvenile orientation to either side of the chamber containing controlled seawater or another with various vegetation cues, as well as their movement time, the largest distance and displacement were recorded.

Results: The juveniles preferred to orient toward seagrass *Halophila beccarii* cues when the concentration reached 0.5 g l⁻¹, but ceased at 2 g l⁻¹. The results can be interpreted as a shelter-seeking process to get closer to the preferred settlement habitats. However, the juveniles exhibited avoidance behaviors in the presence of mangrove *Avicennia marina* and saltmarsh cordgrass *Spartina alterniflora* at 2 g l⁻¹. The juveniles also spent less time moving in the

Deleted: Both source and concentration of habitat chemical cues were found to have significant effects on the orientation and displacement of juveniles. Specifically, t

Deleted: the

Deleted: from

Deleted: had

Deleted: shorter

46 presence of *the A. marina* cue, as well as reduced displacement in water containing *the S.*
47 *alterniflora* cue at 1 and 2 g l⁻¹. These *results* may explain the absence of juvenile *T. tridentatus*
48 within *densely vegetated areas*, which have generally higher organic matter and hydrogen
49 sulfide.

50 **Conclusion:** Early-stage juvenile *T. tridentatus* are capable of detecting and responding to
51 habitat chemical cues, which can help guide them to high-quality settlement habitats. Preserving
52 and restoring seagrass beds in the intertidal areas should be prioritized when formulating habitat
53 conservation and management initiatives for the declining horseshoe crab populations.
54

55 Introduction

56 Horseshoe crabs are an ancient group of invertebrates that *are* broadly distributed along the west
57 coast of the North Atlantic and Pacific Oceans. They are inshore species which are important in
58 the food web of coastal and estuarine ecosystems (Botton, 2009). Their eggs serve as protein and
59 lipid sources for fishes and migratory shorebirds (Mizrahi & Peters, 2009), whereas the juveniles
60 and adults are key predators of the benthic community in intertidal flats (Gaines et al., 2002;
61 John et al., 2012; Kwan et al., 2021). *However*, horseshoe crabs are *heavily* harvested for their
62 blood for the manufacture of *Tachypleus* and *Limulus* amebocyte lysates, the worldwide
63 standardized tests for bacterial endotoxin detection in pharmaceutical products (Gauvry, 2015;
64 Tinker-Kulberg et al., 2020). *In addition to resource exploitation*, habitat loss and degradation
65 from coastal development (Tsuchiya, 2009; Nelson et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2020), *as well as*
66 *bycatch* by artisanal fishing and discarded fishing gear, *are* also widely observed to cause
67 considerable threats to horseshoe crab *populations* (Zauki et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2022). The
68 Atlantic horseshoe crab *Limulus polyphemus* and tri-spine horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus*
69 are listed as “Vulnerable” (Smith et al., 2016) and “Endangered” (Laurie et al., 2019),
70 respectively, in the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, while the status of other two Asian
71 species, the coastal horseshoe crab *T. gigas* and mangrove horseshoe crab *Carcinoscorpius*
72 *rotundicauda* are under reassessment owing to the recent reports describing *substantial*
73 population declines (John et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2020). To reverse the declining trend,
74 national and regional conservation measures have been imposed in Bangladesh, India, China,
75 Singapore, Indonesia, and in specific regions in Japan. The effectiveness of these measures in
76 protecting the remaining horseshoe crab populations may be limited (Wang et al., 2020),
77 possibly due to insufficient scientific knowledge, financial resources and enforcement capacity
78 (Xie et al., 2020).

79 The larval dispersal and settlement of marine species are critical for the persistence of
80 local populations; *therefore*, an enhanced understanding of their ecology and behavior,
81 particularly for endangered or locally depleted species, is useful for management and
82 conservation (Botton & Loveland, 2003; Green et al., 2015; Whomersley et al., 2018).
83 Horseshoe crabs have unique reproductive strategies to maximize egg hatching success and
84 subsequent larval development (Penn & Brockmann, 1994; Vasquez et al., 2015). The spawning
85 pairs in amplexus migrate from shallow waters to sandy estuarine beaches, and lay clusters of

Deleted: the

Deleted: H

Deleted: They are exacerbated by

Deleted: , which

Deleted: has led to significant population declines globally

Deleted: . B

Deleted: is

Deleted: spawning

Deleted: adults

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: the

Deleted: ,

101 eggs beneath the sediment in the intertidal zones (Smith *et al.*, 2017). The eggs hatch into
102 planktonic trilobite larvae and settle in the vicinity of the shoreline (Botton & Loveland, 2003;
103 Botton, Tankersley & Loveland, 2010). Most hatched larvae emerge from the sediment at high
104 spring tides when the water reaches the height of the nests (Botton & Loveland, 2003; Ehlinger
105 *et al.*, 2003), facilitating larval dispersal from the nesting locations.

106 While the spawning biology of horseshoe crabs may share common characteristics, the
107 existing information for Asian species is limited and mostly descriptive. Similar to their Atlantic
108 counterpart, the distribution of newly settled and early-stage juvenile *T. tridentatus* and *C.*
109 *rotundicauda* populations is non-random and has a high tendency to stay close to mangrove,
110 seagrass and other structured habitats (Kwan *et al.*, 2016; Kaiser & Schoppe, 2018; Xie *et al.*,
111 2020; Meilana, Hakim & Fang, 2021). Recent spawning habitat surveys in the northern Beibu
112 Gulf, following the last report in 1984 in China (Cai, Lin & Huang, 1984), demonstrated that the
113 identified nesting beaches were adjacent to nursery habitats for juveniles (Kwan *et al.*, 2022).
114 Little is known regarding the movement behavior of the larvae and early-stage juveniles under
115 field conditions. Previous laboratory studies on *L. polyphemus* suggest that their directed
116 movements to water flow (i.e., rheotaxis) change upon exposure to habitat chemical cues
117 (Medina & Tankersley, 2010; Butler & Tankersley, 2020). A rheotaxis can either be positive by
118 turning face into the current to hold their position rather than being swept downstream, or
119 negative to avoid oncoming currents (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2014). In the experiment of Butler &
120 Tankersley (2020), *L. polyphemus* larvae exhibited a positive rheotaxis in the presence of
121 chemical cues from seagrass associated with their settlement sites, which may imply that the
122 strong tendency of early juveniles to remain close to the beach is a consequence of upstream
123 movement behavior mediated by habitat chemical cues. However, the mechanism of post-larval
124 orientation and settlement is likely species- and/or site-specific, depending on the perceived
125 coastal environmental conditions (Rossi *et al.*, 2019).

126 In this study, we examined whether the early-stage juvenile *T. tridentatus* are able to
127 detect and respond to chemical cues associated with varied coastal vegetations available in their
128 nursery habitats. We predict that the habitat chemical cues can influence the orientation and
129 movement behaviors of juvenile, providing guidance to preferred settlement habitats, which
130 shapes the distribution patterns of early juveniles in the immediate vicinity of the shoreline. The
131 Beibu Gulf, a semi-closed gulf located off the coast of southern China and northern Vietnam, is
132 broadly considered to be one of the most important habitats for the remaining high-density
133 population of endangered *T. tridentatus* (Brockmann & Smith, 2009; Sekiguchi & Shuster, 2009;
134 Liao *et al.*, 2019). The spawning and nursery habitats of Asian horseshoe crabs in the gulf are
135 typically characterized by extensive mangrove fringes along the coastline with patches of
136 seagrass *Halophila* spp. and saltmarsh cordgrass *Spartina alterniflora*, scattered on the intertidal
137 flats (Xie *et al.*, 2020; Kwan *et al.*, 2022). These characteristics of the spawning and nursery
138 habitats serve as a good opportunity to test our prediction of the orientation and movement
139 behaviors of the endangered *T. tridentatus* juveniles for exploring the ecological importance to
140 settlement in suitable habitats.

Deleted: has reached

Deleted: level

Deleted: to

Deleted: e

Deleted: capable

Deleted: s as the

Deleted: .

Deleted: on

Materials & Methods

Larval and juvenile horseshoe crab rearing

Tachypleus tridentatus larvae were obtained from the Guangxi Institute of Oceanology, China. The use of hatchery-bred animals was approved by the Department of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of Guangxi Region, China (approval number 2022-0131). Mating pairs of *T. tridentatus* were kept in indoor tanks with an approximately 10-cm sediment layer underneath. The released eggs were incubated in hanging baskets from the surface of culture water with continuous, vigorous airflow pumping below the baskets (Xu *et al.*, 2021). Most eggs developed and hatched into trilobite larvae after one-month rearing under the following environmental conditions: temperature 26–30°C, salinity 32–33 ppt, pH 7.6–7.9, dissolved oxygen 6–7 mg l⁻¹.

The hatched larvae were transported to the laboratory and cultured in aquarium tanks (dimension: 120 × 40 × 25 cm) equipped with a water filtration system, thermostatic heaters and ultraviolet sterilizers. A 4-cm sediment layer was provided underneath. Seawater was maintained at the rearing conditions similar to egg incubation. The water quality was monitored weekly, and half of the volume of water was changed every month or whenever water ammonia concentration was above 0.1 mg l⁻¹. Frozen brine shrimp larvae were provided thrice per week when the larvae had developed into second-instar juveniles.

Experimental setup and conditioned water preparation

The experimental setup consisted of a laboratory Y-maze acrylic chamber and two reservoirs containing control and conditioned waters, separately (Fig. 1a). A water pump was placed within each reservoir to pump the test waters into the inflow end at each side of the Y-maze chamber. The chamber was filled with seawater to 6 cm depth with a 1-cm sand layer underneath, so as to keep all experimental juveniles completely submerged under the water. Prior to the experiment, two acrylic movable plates were inserted near the outflow end of the chamber (Fig. 1a) to maintain the water level and avoid the immediate mixing between control and conditioned waters. The experiment began after the experimental waters had been flowing in the chamber for at least 10 mins. The flow rate was calculated by measuring the volume of outflowing seawater per unit time. A standard flow rate (200 mL/min) was maintained throughout the experiments by adjusting the control valve on each water tube connected to the water pumps until reaching stable equilibrium from each side with the aid of different dyed waters (water-soluble ink). Two video cameras were installed on each side to record juvenile directional movements relative to the flow of water.

Conditioned waters were prepared using three dominant vegetation sources, including mangrove *Avicennia marina*, seagrass *Halophila beccarii* and saltmarsh cordgrass *Spartina alterniflora*, which can be found in *T. tridentatus* nursery habitats along the coast of the northern Beibu Gulf, China (Xie *et al.*, 2020). Fresh fallen leaves of mangrove, seagrass and saltmarsh cordgrass were collected at the identified nursery sites (Kwan *et al.*, 2021) during low tides in the summer (May–September) of 2020. The collected samples were rinsed repeatedly, freeze-dried

189 for at least one week, and ground into the powder with a mortar and pestle. The dried samples
190 were weighed, dissolved into artificial seawater at salinity 30 ppt, homogenized and filtered after
191 12 h, to prepare the conditioned waters at concentrations of 0.25, 0.50, 1.00 and 2.00 g l⁻¹. The
192 levels were ~~selected based on~~ the concentration range (0.3–30 g l⁻¹) described in *Butler &*
193 *Tankersley (2020)*. However, the preparation method of conditioned seawater in the present
194 study (dissolution of ground vegetation powder) was slightly different from those in the previous
195 study (24-h incubation of fresh vegetation), which should cause different actual levels of
196 chemical cues available in the conditioned waters. The trials with concentrations higher than 2 g
197 l⁻¹ were not conducted because the conditioned water would become too turbid and the juvenile
198 behavioral parameters could not be quantified. Artificial seawater at salinity 30 ppt was used as
199 the control. All experimental waters were subjected to experiments within 12 h of preparation.

Deleted: referred

Deleted: to

200

201 Orientation and movement behaviors toward chemical cues

202 To quantify the movement responses during the settlement process, the orientation and various
203 behavioral data from 60 juveniles were collected per treatment. During each treatment, a second-
204 instar juvenile *T. tridentatus* (prosomal width: 7.5–8.8 mm, wet weight: 35.9–55.3 mg) was
205 randomly chosen and introduced into the intersection area of the chamber (Fig. 1a). The juvenile
206 was given 30 mins to respond to the flow by moving upstream to either side of the chamber
207 containing control or conditioned water, or downstream toward the outflow end. The orientation,
208 movement time, the largest movement distance and displacement of the juvenile were quantified
209 based on the video recordings. After the completion of data collection from 10 juveniles, the
210 inner surface and sand layer of the chamber was rinsed completely. Another group of 10
211 juveniles was used for the same treatment by alternating the inflow of conditioned water from
212 the left to the right arm of the chamber, to test if the choice of seawater source by the juveniles
213 was non-random. The set of experiment was repeated three times, and all juveniles were only
214 used once per observation (each treatment: 10 juveniles × 2 positions × 3 replicates).

215 Because none of the experimental juveniles traveled downstream throughout the
216 experiment, the orientation parameter was used to quantify the percentage of individuals moving
217 upstream to choose control/conditioned water. ~~The orientation toward conditioned or control~~
218 ~~water of each juvenile was recorded by a single video, and the percentage of individuals moving~~
219 ~~up to either side of the Y-maze chamber was calculated based on the video recordings from 10~~
220 ~~different juveniles.~~ A juvenile that failed to travel in either direction during the first 10 mins was
221 considered “unresponsive” and would be replaced by another juvenile. The proportion of
222 “unresponsive” juveniles was very low, which ranged from 0–1 individuals in each experimental
223 replicate. Movement time was the total time the juveniles spent crawling or swimming in the
224 chamber. The largest movement distance was defined as the longest length traveled in a single
225 upstream direction, whereas displacement was the length between the initial and final points of
226 movement within the allowed experimental time, i.e., 30 mins (Fig. 1b). Artificial lighting was
227 used to ensure that all animals were exposed to the same conditions. None of the juveniles was

Deleted: findings from multiple

Deleted:

sacrificed during the experiment, and the study protocol was approved by the Committee for Animal Welfare of the Beibu Gulf University.

Statistical analysis

Data were first examined for normality and homogeneity of variance by Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's tests, respectively. Student's *t* and Mann-Whitney *U* tests were conducted to check whether the choice of the left/right arm of the chamber by the juveniles was non-random. The data from two groups of 10 juveniles were pooled for subsequent behavioral parameter analyses after the differences were found to be statistically similar (Table S1). Since the orientation data were non-normal, non-parametric binomial tests were performed to examine the possible differences in juvenile orientation between control and conditioned waters at individual concentration. The test proportion of the binomial model was set at 0.50. Student's *t* tests were used for other behavioral parameters analyses. To understand the overall effects of various vegetation sources at different concentrations on juvenile behaviors, the data were analyzed using two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA: source [fixed] × concentration [fixed]). Multiple pair-wise comparisons among sources/concentrations were applied using post hoc Tukey's tests with Bonferroni adjustments when a significant difference was identified. All the above analyses were implemented using IBM SPSS Statistics Software (version 26, New York, USA).

Results

Between 17%–82% of juvenile *T. tridentatus* traveled to the side containing habitat cues from different vegetation sources at various concentrations (Fig. 2a-c). Binomial tests between control and treatment groups revealed that statistically higher proportions of juveniles responded to *H. beccarii* chemical cues at 0.50 and 1.00 g l⁻¹, while significantly lower percentages of juveniles moved upstream approaching *A. marina* chemical cues at 2.00 g l⁻¹, and *S. alterniflora* chemical cues at 2.00 g l⁻¹ (Fig. 2a-c). For other behavioral parameters, a significant reduction in juvenile movement time for >57% was detected in water containing *A. marina* cue at 2.00 g l⁻¹, while the juvenile largest movement distance and displacement performed in seawater sources with chemical cues were similar to those recorded in the control (Table 1, Fig. 2d).

When the overall effects of various vegetation sources at different concentrations were simultaneously considered, both source and concentration of chemical cues were found to significantly alter the displacement of juveniles, but only source and concentration were noted to affect juvenile movement time and the largest distance, respectively (Table 2, Fig. 3). A significant decrease in juvenile displacement at 1.00 and 2.00 g l⁻¹ was also observed in water containing *S. alterniflora* cue (Fig. 3a). In terms of movement time, the juveniles were more active in seawater containing *H. beccarii* cue than those in *A. marina* (Fig. 3b). A significant reduction in the largest movement distance of juveniles was also recorded at 2 g l⁻¹, compared to those at 0.25 g l⁻¹, regardless of the vegetation sources (Fig. 3c).

Deleted: tests

Deleted: seawater source

Deleted: The differences in juvenile behavioral parameters between control and conditioned waters at individual concentration were compared by Student's *t* tests.

Deleted: given

Deleted: Pair-wise comparisons

Deleted: as well as *A. marina* chemical cues at 0.50 g l⁻¹

Deleted: 0.25 and

Deleted: , as well as

Deleted: Table 1,

Deleted: orientation and

Deleted: Consistent to the results of pair-wise comparisons (Fig. 2a), at a concentration of 2.00 g l⁻¹, juveniles displayed a statistically weaker rheotaxis in the presence of *A. marina* cue, when compared to other habitat sources (Fig. 3a).

Deleted: 3b

Deleted: To compare the responses among concentration levels, in the presence of *H. beccarii* cues, a significantly enhanced directed movement was noted at 1.00 g l⁻¹ compared to other exposure concentrations (Fig. 3a).

Deleted: 3c

Deleted: 3d

Discussion

There is increasing interest in studying horseshoe crab populations due to their biomedical importance and use in various fisheries, and understanding the factors that may contribute to larval recruitment is a worthwhile investigation. Recent studies provided useful information on the nesting/nursery habitat distributions and larval hatching processes of Asian horseshoe crabs (Itaya et al., 2022; Kuang et al., 2022; Kwan et al., 2022). However, little is known regarding the role of chemoreceptive and olfactory capabilities in larval transport and settlement, despite the fact that high densities of juvenile Asian horseshoe crabs are known to occur in the upper intertidal beaches adjacent to mangrove, seagrass and other structured habitats (Xie et al., 2020). In this study, the use of chemical cues in seeking preferred settlement habitat by *T. tridentatus* was tested using a laboratory Y-maze chamber. Our results provided evidence that early-stage juvenile *T. tridentatus* are capable of detecting and responding to chemical cues associated with the typical vegetations available in nursery habitats. Overall, the juveniles were attracted to the seagrass *H. beccarii* cue when the concentration reached 0.5 or 1 g l⁻¹. On the other hand, the juveniles tended to avoid chemical cues from mangrove *A. marina* and saltmarsh cordgrass *S. alterniflora* at relatively high concentrations (i.e., 2 g l⁻¹ in this study).

The use of chemical cues was documented in examples of marine decapod crustaceans and fish (Havel & Fuiman, 2015; Foretich et al., 2017; Hinojosa et al., 2018; Arvedlund & Kavanagh, 2020). Horseshoe crabs are known to possess a variety of chemoreceptors on the gills, flabellum, chilidia and walking legs, which would respond to oxygen in seawater and varying chemical cues associated with food (Quinn, Paradise & Atema, 1998; Mittmann & Scholtz, 2001; Saunders et al., 2010). In Cape Cod, U.S.A., *L. polyphemus* were observed to locate their preferred food, *Mya arenaria*, which were completely buried within the sediment (Smith, 1953). There is also evidence of chemical cue use by male *L. polyphemus* in locating spawning females. Hassler and Brockmann (2001) found that a cement model with conditioned seawater collected from spawning females was more attractive to males. Previous studies also demonstrated that *L. polyphemus* would use other sensory cues in addition to chemical cues to adapt to the overall complexity of signals in coastal and estuarine environments. The use of visual cues enables male *L. polyphemus* to see and respond to females at night (Barlow, Ireland & Kass, 1982; Herzog, Powers & Barlow, 1996) and are more attracted to unpaired and larger females (Hassler & Brockmann, 2001; Barlow & Powers, 2003).

Relatively little is known about the use of multisensory cues by larvae and juvenile horseshoe crabs to identify preferred habitats. *Limulus polyphemus* larvae were noted to be more active at nighttime and positively phototactic to dim light sources such as moonlight (Rudloe, 1979; Botton & Loveland, 2003). The major releases of hatched larvae from the nesting sites are shown to be associated with high water conditions such as hydration, hypoosmotic shock and agitation (Ehlinger & Tankersley, 2003; Botton, Tankersley & Loveland, 2010; Kuang et al., 2022). These exogenous cues are possibly detected by mechanoreceptors available on the entire surface of prosoma, spines and walking legs (Wyse 1971), to facilitate the dispersal of larvae away from the spawning locations. Our results, together with previous studies on *L. polyphemus*

Deleted: a

Deleted: d

Commented [SJ1]: Do you mean chemical?

Commented [SJ2]: Not clear what you are trying to say here.

(Medina & Tankersley, 2010; Butler & Tankersley, 2020), suggest that chemical cues are involved in the settlement and habitat selection process. Horseshoe crab larvae and juveniles were more directed toward chemical cues from seagrasses (Medina & Tankersley, 2010; Butler & Tankersley, 2020). The responses were perceived as a shelter-seeking behavior, since high-density juvenile *T. tridentatus* populations in the northern Beibu Gulf, China were found in areas of seagrass patches, mainly *Halophila* species (Xie *et al.*, 2020). Apart from providing refuge from predation, other studies also revealed that the juveniles predominantly assimilated energy from seagrass as basal production sources in the food web (Kwan *et al.*, 2015; Fan *et al.*, 2017; Kwan *et al.* 2021). However, it is rare to find juvenile Asian horseshoe crabs near *S. alterniflora* in the field, even though the invasive plant has expanded rapidly throughout the Chinese coastline (Meng *et al.*, 2020), and highly overlapped with horseshoe crab habitats (Kwan *et al.*, 2015; Xie *et al.*, 2020; Kwan *et al.*, 2021). Our data also showed that juvenile *T. tridentatus* showed stronger preferences for the native *H. beccarii* habitat over the one with invasive *S. alterniflora*.

Although not addressed in our study, biofilm available on the plants and other substrata can also act as settlement cues for a broad variety of marine invertebrate larvae, including mollusks (Liang *et al.*, 2020), crustaceans (Siddik & Satheesh, 2019), polychaetes (Freckelton *et al.*, 2022), gastropods (La Marca *et al.*, 2021), cnidarians (Petersen *et al.*, 2021) and echinoderms (Huggett *et al.*, 2006). Marine biofilms are complex, heterogenic microbial communities, mainly bacteria and diatoms, surrounded by a matrix of extracellular polymeric substances (Antunes, Leão & Vasconcelos, 2019). Larval settlement responses to different bacteria can be species-specific. Similarly, the bacterial community on the surfaces and/or roots of habitat plants can also be important as settlement and behavioral cues for early-stage *T. tridentatus*. While the role of bacteria in larval settlement of horseshoe crabs is currently unclear, their larvae and early-stage juveniles are known to feed primarily on sedimentary organic matter (Gaines *et al.*, 2002; Kwan *et al.*, 2021), which is dominated by benthic diatoms (e.g., Naviculaceae and Cymbellaceae in Beibu Gulf region, Table S2). Alternatively, chemical compounds released during the decay processes of coastal plants may also attract the settlement of marine invertebrate larvae, as seen in several amphipod species associated with seagrass bed (Edgar 1992) and the mangrove jellyfish *Cassiopea xamachana* (Hofmann *et al.*, 1996; Fleck & Fitt, 1999). However, the preparation of conditioned seawater using dried plant materials in the current study may lower the effects of live bacteria and decayed plant compounds on settlement behaviors of the early-stage juvenile *T. tridentatus*.

In this study, the chemically-mediated orientation and movement behaviors of the juveniles were generally concentration-dependent. As noted in Figure 2(b), the juveniles preferred the water containing seagrass chemical cues at a concentration of 0.5 and 1 g l⁻¹. However, the effect on directional choice toward seagrass cue was ceased at 2 g l⁻¹ and became statistically similar to that observed in control water. The results can be interpreted as the movement process of the juveniles seeking settlement habitats (Medina & Tankersley, 2010): their movements become more directed when the juveniles get closer to the source, which is

Deleted: For instance, Gram-negative bacteria, *Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea* and *Cellulophaga lytica* were responsible for a high settlement response in serpulid polychaete *Hydroides elegans* (Freckelton *et al.*, 2022). By testing the larval-biofilm interactions, bacterial lipopolysaccharide that entrained within the biofilm was suggested to be the inductive molecule that induces the larval settlement of marine invertebrates (Freckelton *et al.*, 2022).

384 indicated by the increased concentration of seagrass chemical cues. When the concentration is
385 too high (e.g., 2 g l⁻¹ in this study), the juveniles may perceive the signal as the arrival to the
386 preferred settlement habitats, and therefore their behavioral responses would become weaker. In
387 contrast, the juveniles exhibited avoidance behaviors when getting too close to mangrove and
388 saltmarsh cordgrass, as indicated by selecting the side with control seawater when the source
389 concentrations had reached 2 g l⁻¹. Other movement behaviors, including reduced time spent on
390 movement and/or shorter displacement, also recorded a similar trend (Figs. 2d and 3a). A
391 possible explanation for such avoidance behaviors is that the densely vegetated saltmarsh
392 cordgrass and mangrove areas have slower water movement and accumulation of the fine-
393 grained, poorly drained substratum, which would result in higher concentrations of organic
394 matter and hydrogen sulfide in the areas (Wang et al., 2015; Rossi et al., 2019; Su et al., 2020; Li
395 et al. 2021). A recent study in the Beibu Gulf region also demonstrated that the *Spartina*
396 occupation reduced the diversity of macroinvertebrate assemblages on intertidal flats (Su et al.,
397 2020), and therefore may affect the availability of food sources for the juveniles (Kwan et al.,
398 2021). The presence of high tannin, phenolics and other plant defensive compounds in *A. marina*
399 and *S. alterniflora* extracts (Zhou et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2021) were found to negatively
400 affect benthic invertebrates (Alongi, 1987; Lee, 1999), probably also reducing the rheotaxis of
401 juvenile *T. tridentatus* toward these vegetations.

Deleted: 3b

402 While the induction by a single source of vegetation cues never exists in the marine
403 environment, and the actual contribution of these factors in the field is poorly understood, similar
404 laboratory experiments are common and useful to investigate the mechanism of larval settlement
405 and habitat selection in marine invertebrates (Suárez-Rodríguez, Kruesi & Alcaraz, 2019;
406 Gravinese et al., 2020; Brooker et al., 2022). For example, Jensen & Morse (1990) identified an
407 inductive organic molecule that induced larval settlement in marine polychaete *Phragmatopoma*
408 *californica* in the laboratory and also triggered the same processes in the ocean. Previous
409 research on horseshoe crabs, to the best of our knowledge, has not compared the potential
410 behavioral difference between hatchery-bred individuals and those in the field. However, given
411 that horseshoe crab populations are threatened and even endangered across the distribution
412 range, previous studies suggest the use of artificially cultured horseshoe crabs is useful to explain
413 the habitat selection mechanisms and distribution patterns of the wild populations (e.g., Medina
414 & Tankersley, 2010; Hieb et al., 2015; Kwan et al., 2020; Chan et al., 2022). Apart from this,
415 horseshoe crabs are also likely to use multiple sensory cues, particularly visual cues, in
416 settlement habitat selection. As the entire exclusion of the multisensory factors is challenging, in
417 this study, we can observe some discrepancies in the juvenile orientation results. In Figure 2, the
418 juveniles showed (1) avoidance behavior toward mangrove *A. marina* cues at 2.00 g l⁻¹ but not at
419 0.25, 0.50 and 1.00 g l⁻¹; and (2) there is neither preference nor avoidance of cordgrass *S.*
420 *alterniflora* except at the highest concentration of 2.00 g l⁻¹. Therefore, consideration of the
421 simultaneous use of multiple sensory cues is needed in horseshoe crabs to make further
422 conclusions on the process and mechanism of juvenile habitat selections. Another possibility of
423 the discrepancies is due to the lower resolution of orientation data compared to the other

Deleted: ed

Deleted: Since the induction of settlement is a complex process involving plant chemical cues, bacteria and biofilms, and/or decayed plant compounds, this complexity cannot be duplicated in controlled conditions in the laboratory.

Deleted: equally

Deleted: 0.25 and

behavioral parameters: multiple video recordings from a group of juveniles were required to obtain each percentage orientation sample value, but only one video recording per juvenile would be needed to collect each of the other behavioral parameter values.

Collectively, our results demonstrated the differential orientation behaviors of juveniles between seagrass and mangrove/cordgrass chemical cues, which may provide useful navigation to juvenile *T. tridentatus* to identify and settle on the upper intertidal flats adjacent to seagrass habitats, and avoid getting too close to densely vegetated areas of mangroves and saltmarsh cordgrass. The results of nursery habitat selection can maximize the chance to obtain high-quality food and avert adverse environmental conditions, and thereby increasing the survival rate of the juveniles. Additional emphasis on mating, food searching and predation avoidance should also be addressed in *T. tridentatus* and other Asian species to make further conclusions on the role of chemical cues in horseshoe crabs. From a management perspective, preserving coastal and estuarine habitats, particularly those with seagrass beds, should be prioritized in management measures for conservation of the declining Asian horseshoe crab populations. Active seagrass restoration in the upper and middle portion of intertidal areas can also benefit Asian horseshoe crab conservation by providing more suitable nursery habitats for shelter and basal production sources in the juvenile food web.

Conclusions

Our findings demonstrated that early-stage juvenile *T. tridentatus* are capable of detecting and responding to varying sources of habitat vegetation. Positive rheotaxis was exhibited in the presence of seagrass *H. beccarii* cue at 0.5 and 1 g l⁻¹, but juveniles avoided mangrove *A. marina* and saltmarsh cordgrass *S. alterniflora* cues when the concentrations were too high at 2 g l⁻¹. Juvenile displacement was also significantly reduced in water containing *S. alterniflora* cue at 1 and 2 g l⁻¹. These behaviours may help guide juveniles to high-quality settlement habitats, as seagrass is known to serve as basal production sources in the *T. tridentatus* food web, as well as prevent juveniles from getting too close to the mangrove and saltmarsh cordgrass, which are generally higher in organic matter and hydrogen sulfide. The present study provided valuable evidence on the scope of larval dispersal and habitat selection mediated by habitat chemical cues, which is useful to improve the management efforts for the declining Asian horseshoe crab populations.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the students from College of Marine Sciences of Beibu Gulf University for their assistance in conducting field sampling and laboratory maintenance. Constructive comments by the Editor, as well as Dr. Mark Botton, Dr. Kiran Liversage and the anonymous reviewer are much appreciated.

References

Deleted: s

Deleted: , in which p

Deleted: are

Deleted: can

Deleted: them

Deleted: and

Deleted: them

Deleted: selves

Deleted: in

Deleted: , and

481 **Alongi DM. 1987.** The influence of mangrove-derived tannins on intertidal meiobenthos in
482 tropical estuaries. *Oecologia* **71**(4):537–540.

483 **Antunes J, Leão P, Vasconcelos V. 2019.** Marine biofilms: diversity of communities and of
484 chemical cues. *Environmental Microbiology Reports* **11**(3):287–305.

485 **Arvedlund M, Kavanagh K. 2015.** The senses and environmental cues used by marine larvae of
486 fish and decapod crustaceans to find tropical coastal ecosystems. In: Nagelkerken I, ed.
487 *Ecological Connectivity among Tropical Coastal Ecosystems*. Boston: Springer, 135–184.

488 **Barlow RB, Ireland LC, Kass L. 1982.** Vision has a role in *Limulus* mating behaviour. *Nature*
489 **296**(5852):65–66.

490 **Barlow RB, Powers MK. 2003.** Seeing at night and finding mates: the role of vision. In: Shuster
491 CN Jr, Barlow RB, Brockmann HJ, eds. *The American Horseshoe Crab*. Cambridge: Harvard
492 University Press, 83–102.

493 **Botton ML. 2009.** The ecological importance of horseshoe crabs in estuarine and coastal
494 communities: a review and speculative summary. In: Tanacredi JT, Botton ML, Smith DR,
495 eds. *Biology and Conservation of Horseshoe Crabs*. New York: Springer, 45–63.

496 **Botton ML, Loveland RE. 2003.** Abundance and dispersal potential of horseshoe crab (*Limulus*
497 *polyphemus*) larvae in the Delaware estuary. *Estuaries* **26**(6):1472–1479.

498 **Botton ML, Tankersley RA, Loveland RE. 2010.** Developmental ecology of the American
499 horseshoe crab *Limulus polyphemus*. *Current Zoology* **56**(5):550–562.

500 **Brockmann HJ, Smith MD. 2009.** Reproductive competition and sexual selection in horseshoe
501 crabs. In: Tanacredi JT, Botton ML, Smith DR, eds. *Biology and Conservation of Horseshoe*
502 *Crabs*. New York: Springer, 199–221.

503 **Brooker MA, de Lestang SN, How JR, Langlois TJ. 2022.** Chemotaxis is important for fine
504 scale habitat selection of early juvenile *Panulirus cygnus*. *Journal of Experimental Marine*
505 *Biology and Ecology* **553**:151753.

506 **Butler CB, Tankersley RA. 2020.** Smells like home: The use of chemically-mediated rheotaxes
507 by *Limulus polyphemus* larvae. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*
508 **525**:151323.

509 **Cai X, Lin Q, Huang J. 1984.** Spawning behavior and early embryonic development of
510 *Tachypleus tridentatus*. *Acta Oceanologica Sinica* **6**:663–671 (in Chinese).

511 **Chan HK, Lo HS, Ng SY, Chen RF, Cheung SG. 2022.** Visually guided behaviour of juvenile
512 tri-spine horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus*: implications for designing racks for oyster
513 cultivation compatible with horseshoe crab conservation. In: Tanacredi JT, Botton ML, Shin
514 PKS, Iwasaki Y, Cheung SG, Kwan KY, Mattei JH, eds. *International Horseshoe Crab*
515 *Conservation and Research Efforts: 2007–2020: Conservation of Horseshoe Crabs Species*
516 *Globally*. Cham: Springer, 177–187.

517 **Edgar GJ. 1992.** Patterns of colonization of mobile epifauna in a Western Australian seagrass
518 bed. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **157**(2):225–246.

519 **Ehlinger GS, Tankersley RA. 2003.** Larval hatching in the horseshoe crab, *Limulus*
520 *polyphemus*: facilitation by environmental cues. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and*
521 *Ecology* **292**(2):199–212.

522 **Ehlinger GS, Tankersley RA, Bush MB. 2003.** Spatial and temporal patterns of spawning and
523 larval hatching by the horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus*, in a microtidal coastal lagoon.
524 *Estuaries* **26**(3):631–640.

525 **Fleck J, Fitt WK. 1999.** Degrading mangrove leaves of *Rhizophora mangle* provide a natural
526 metamorphic cue for the upside down jellyfish *Cassiopea xamachana*. *Journal of*
527 *Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **234**:83–94.

528 **Foretich MA, Paris CB, Grosell M, Stieglitz JD, Benetti DD. 2017.** Dimethyl sulfide is a
529 chemical attractant for reef fish larvae. *Scientific Reports* **7**:2498.

530 **Freckelton ML, Nedved BT, Cai YS, Cao S, Turano H, Alegado RA, Hadfield MG. 2022.**
531 Bacterial lipopolysaccharide induces settlement and metamorphosis in a marine larva.
532 *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **119**(18):e2200795119.

533 **Gaines EF, Carmichael RH, Grady SP, Valiela I. 2002.** Stable isotopic evidence for changing
534 nutritional sources of juvenile horseshoe crabs. *The Biological Bulletin*. **203**(2):228–230.

535 **Gauvry G. 2015.** Current horseshoe crab harvesting practices cannot support global demand for
536 TAL/LAL: the pharmaceutical and medical device industries' role in the sustainability of
537 horseshoe crabs. In: Carmichael RH, Botton ML, Shin PKS, Cheung SG, eds. *Changing*
538 *Global Perspectives on Horseshoe Crab Biology, Conservation and Management*. Cham:
539 Springer International Publishing, 383–396.

540 **Gravinese PM, Page HN, Butler CB, Spadaro AJ, Hewett C, Considine M, Lankes D,**
541 **Fisher S. 2020.** Ocean acidification disrupts the orientation of postlarval Caribbean spiny
542 lobsters. *Scientific Reports* **10**(1):18092.

543 **Green AL, Maypa AP, Almany GR, Rhodes KL, Weeks R, Abesamis RA, Gleason MG,**
544 **Mumby PJ, White AT. 2015.** Larval dispersal and movement patterns of coral reef fishes,
545 and implications for marine reserve network design. *Biological Reviews* **90**(4):1215–1247.

546 **Hassler C, Brockmann HJ. 2001.** Evidence for use of chemical cues by male horseshoe crabs
547 when locating nesting females (*Limulus polyphemus*). *Journal of Chemical Ecology*
548 **27**(11):2319–2335.

549 **Havel LN, Fuiman LA. 2016.** Settlement-size larval red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) respond to
550 estuarine chemical cues. *Estuaries and Coasts* **39**(2):560–70.

551 **Herzog ED, Powers MK, Barlow RB. 1996.** *Limulus* vision in the ocean day and night: effects
552 of image size and contrast. *Visual Neuroscience* **13**:31–41.

553 **Hinojosa IA, Gardner C, Green BS, Jeffs A. 2018.** Coastal chemical cues for settlement of the
554 southern rock lobster, *Jasus edwardsii*. *Bulletin of Marine Science* **94**(3):619–33.

555 **Hieb EE, Baggett JD, Aven AM, Carmichael RH. 2015.** Effects of sediment type and tank
556 shape on horseshoe crab (*Limulus polyphemus*) growth and survival in culture. In: Carmichael
557 RH, Botton ML, Shin PKS, Cheung SG, eds. *Changing Global Perspectives on Horseshoe*

558 *Crab Biology, Conservation and Management*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 289–
559 302.

560 **Hofmann, DK, Fitt WK, Fleck J. 1996.** Checkpoints in the life-cycle of *Cassiopea* spp.: control
561 of metagenesis and metamorphosis in a tropical jellyfish. *International Journal of*
562 *Developmental Biology* **40**(1):331–338.

563 **Huggett MJ, Williamson JE, De Nys R, Kjelleberg S, Steinberg PD. 2006.** Larval settlement
564 of the common Australian sea urchin *Heliocidaris erythrogramma* in response to bacteria
565 from the surface of coralline algae. *Oecologia* **149**(4):604–619.

566 **Itaya S, Seino S, Shuuno M, Sakurada A, Koshiguchi R. 2019.** Spawning site selection of the
567 endangered horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus* at Tsuyazaki Cove in Fukuoka, Japan.
568 *Proceedings of 10th International Conference on Asian and Pacific Coasts*, Hanoi, Vietnam,
569 959–963.

570 **Itaya S, Shuuno M, Onikura N, Tai A, Yano S. 2022.** Effect of intertidal elevation at
571 Tsuyazaki Cove, Fukuoka, Japan on survival rate of horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus*
572 eggs. *Journal of Ocean University of China* **21**(3):601–610.

573 **John BA, Kamaruzzaman BY, Jalal KCA, Zaleha K. 2012.** Feeding ecology and food
574 preferences of *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda* collected from the Pahang nesting grounds.
575 *Sains Malaysiana* **41**:855–861.

576 **John BA, Nelson BR, Sheikh HI, Cheung SG, Wardiatno Y, Dash BP, Tsuchiya K, Iwasaki**
577 **Y, Pati S. 2018.** A review on fisheries and conservation status of Asian horseshoe crabs.
578 *Biodiversity and Conservation* **27**(14):3573–3598.

579 **Kaiser D, Schoppe S. 2018.** Postembryonic development of the Trispine Horseshoe Crab
580 *Tachypleus tridentatus* (Merostomata: Xiphosura) in a nursery habitat in the Philippines.
581 *Journal of Threatened Taxa* **10**(15):12916–12932.

582 **Kobayashi DR, Farman R, Polovina JJ, Parker DM, Rice M, Balazs GH. 2014.** “Going with
583 the flow” or not: evidence of positive rheotaxis in oceanic juvenile loggerhead turtles (*Caretta*
584 *caretta*) in the South Pacific Ocean using satellite tags and ocean circulation data. *PLoS One*
585 **9**(8):e103701.

586 **Kuang Y, Tan KA, Fu Y, Yang X, Xu P, Zhen W, Wang X, Huang X, Zhu J, Wang C-C,**
587 **Kwan KY. 2022.** Influence of tidal cycles on embryonic rotation, hatching and emergence of
588 mangrove horseshoe crab, *Carcinoscorpius rotundicauda*. *Journal of Ocean University of*
589 *China* **21**(2):557–563.

590 **Kwan BKY, Cheung SG, Shin PKS. 2015.** A dual stable isotope study for diet composition of
591 juvenile Chinese horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus* (Xiphosura) on a seagrass-covered
592 intertidal mudflat. *Marine Biology* **162**(5):1137–1143.

593 **Kwan BKY, Hsieh H-L, Cheung SG, Shin PKS. 2016.** Present population and habitat status of
594 potentially threatened Asian horseshoe crabs *Tachypleus tridentatus* and *Carcinoscorpius*
595 *rotundicauda* in Hong Kong: a proposal for marine protected areas. *Biodiversity and*
596 *Conservation* **25**(4):673–692.

597 **Kwan KY, Bopp J, Huang S, Chen Q, Wang CC, Wang X, Zhen W, Zhu J, Huang X. 2021.**
598 Ontogenetic resource use and trophic dynamics of endangered juvenile *Tachypleus tridentatus*
599 among diversified nursery habitats in the northern Beibu Gulf, China. *Integrative Zoology*
600 **16(6):908–928.**

601 **Kwan KY, Fu Y, Zhong M, Kuang Y, Bai H, Zhang C, Zhen W, Xu P, Wang C-C, Zhu J.**
602 **2022.** Spatiotemporal distributions of Asian horseshoe crab eggs are highly intermingled with
603 anthropogenic structures in northern Beibu Gulf, China. *Journal of Ocean University of China*
604 **21(2):531–540.**

605 **Kwan KY, Wong WT, Lam PY, Chan HK, Lo HS, Cheung SG. 2020.** Effects of rubble zones
606 from oyster cultivation on habitat utilization and foraging behaviour of the endangered tri-
607 spine horseshoe crab: An implication for intertidal oyster cultivation practices. *Journal of*
608 *Environmental Management* **271:110925.**

609 **La Marca EC, Catania V, Quatrini P, Milazzo M, Chemello, R. 2018.** Settlement
610 performance of the Mediterranean reef-builders *Dendropoma cristatum* (Biondi 1859) in
611 response to natural bacterial films. *Marine Environmental Research* **137:149–157.**

612 **Laurie K, Chen C-P, Cheung SG et al. 2019.** *Tachypleus tridentatus* (errata version published
613 in 2019). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2019: e.T21309A149768986. Available
614 at <https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2019-1.RLTS.T21309A149768986.en> (accessed 18 Feb
615 2022).

616 **Lee SY. 1999.** The effect of mangrove leaf litter enrichment on macrobenthic colonization of
617 defaunated sandy substrates. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* **49(5):703–712.**

618 **Li H, Ghoto K, Wei MY, Gao CH, Liu YL, Ma DN, Zheng HL. 2021.** Unraveling hydrogen
619 sulfide-promoted lateral root development and growth in mangrove plant *Kandelia obovata*:
620 Insight into regulatory mechanism by TMT-based quantitative proteomic approaches. *Tree*
621 *Physiology* **41(9):1749–1766.**

622 **Liang X, Zhang XK, Peng LH, Zhu YT, Yoshida A, Osatomi K, Yang JL. 2020.** The
623 flagellar gene regulates biofilm formation and mussel larval settlement and metamorphosis.
624 *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **21(3):710.**

625 **Liao Y, Hsieh HL, Xu S, Zhong Q, Lei J, Liang M, Fang H, Xu L, Lin W, Xiao X, Chen**
626 **CP, Cheung SG, Kwan BKY. 2019.** Wisdom of Crowds reveals decline of Asian horseshoe
627 crabs in Beibu Gulf, China. *Oryx* **53(2):222–229.**

628 **Medina JM, Tankersley RA. 2010.** Orientation of larval and juvenile horseshoe crabs *Limulus*
629 *polyphemus* to visual cues: Effects of chemical odors. *Current Zoology* **56(5):618–633.**

630 **Meilana L, Hakim AA, Fang Q. 2021.** Nursery habitat of three species of juvenile Asian
631 horseshoe crabs in Teritip Beach, East Kalimantan, Indonesia: Characterization and
632 implication. *Global Ecology and Conservation* **26:e01453.**

633 **Meng W, Feagin RA, Innocenti RA, Hu B, He M, Li H. 2020.** Invasion and ecological effects
634 of exotic smooth cordgrass *Spartina alterniflora* in China. *Ecological Engineering*
635 **143:105670.**

636 **Mittmann B, Scholtz G. 2001.** Distal-less expression in embryos of *Limulus polyphemus*
637 (Chelicerata, Xiphosura) and *Lepisma saccharina* (Insecta, Zygentoma) suggests a role in the
638 development of mechanoreceptors, chemoreceptors, and the CNS. *Development Genes and*
639 *Evolution* **211**(5):232–243.

640 **Mizrahi DS, Peters KA. 2009.** Relationships between sandpipers and horseshoe crab in
641 Delaware Bay: a synthesis. In: Tanacredi JT, Botton ML, Smith DR, eds. *Biology and*
642 *Conservation of Horseshoe Crabs*. New York: Springer, 65–87.

643 **Mohamad F, Mohd Sofa MFA, Manca A, Ismail N, Che Cob Z, Ahmad AB. 2019.** Nests
644 placements and spawning in the endangered horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus* (Leach,
645 1819)(Merostomata: Xiphosurida: Limulidae) in Sabah, Malaysia. *Journal of Crustacean*
646 *Biology* **39**:695–702.

647 **Nelson BR, Satyanarayana B, Zhong JM, Shaharom F, Sukumaran M, Chatterji A. 2015.**
648 Episodic human activities and seasonal impacts on the *Tachypleus gigas* (Müller, 1785)
649 population at Tanjung Selangor in Peninsular Malaysia. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science*
650 **164**:313–323.

651 **O'Connell CW, Grady SP, Leschen AS, Carmichael RH, Valiela I. 2003.** Stable isotopic
652 assessment of site loyalty and relationships between size and trophic position of the Atlantic
653 horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus*, within Cape Cod estuaries. *The Biological Bulletin*
654 **205**(2):254–255.

655 **Penn D, Brockmann HJ. 1994.** Nest-site selection in the horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus*.
656 *The Biological Bulletin* **187**(3):373–384.

657 **Petersen LE, Moeller M, Versluis D, Nietzer S, Kellermann MY, Schupp PJ. 2021.** Mono-
658 and multispecies biofilms from a crustose coralline alga induce settlement in the scleractinian
659 coral *Leptastrea purpurea*. *Coral Reefs* **40**(2):381–394.

660 **Quinn E, Paradise K, Atema J. 1998.** Juvenile *Limulus polyphemus* generate two water
661 currents that contact one proven and one putative chemoreceptor organ. *The Biological*
662 *Bulletin* **195**(2):185–187.

663 **Rossi A, Irisson JO, Levaray M, Pasqualini V, Agostini S. 2019.** Orientation of
664 Mediterranean fish larvae varies with location. *Marine Biology* **166**(8):1–11.

665 **Rudloe A. 1979.** Locomotor and light responses of larvae of the horseshoe crab, *Limulus*
666 *polyphemus* (L.). *Biological Bulletin* **157**:494–505.

667 **Rossi GS, Tunnah L, Martin KE, Turko AJ, Taylor DS, Currie S, Wright PA. 2019.**
668 Mangrove fishes rely on emersion behavior and physiological tolerance to persist in sulfidic
669 environments. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* **92**(3):316–325.

670 **Saunders KM, Brockmann HJ, Watson III WH, Jury SH. 2010.** Male horseshoe crabs
671 *Limulus polyphemus* use multiple sensory cues to locate mates. *Current Zoology* **56**(5):485–
672 498.

673 **Sekiguchi K, Shuster CN. 2009.** Limits on the global distribution of horseshoe crabs
674 (Limulacea): Lessons learned from two lifetimes of observations: Asia and America. In:

675 Tanacredi JT, Botton ML, Smith DR, eds. *Biology and Conservation of Horseshoe Crabs*.
 676 New York: Springer, 5–24.
 677 **Suárez-Rodríguez M, Kruesi K, Alcaraz G. 2019.** The shadow of the shell: a cue for a new
 678 home. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **99(5)**:1165–1169.
 679 **Siddik A, Satheesh S. 2019.** Characterization and assessment of barnacle larval settlement-
 680 inducing activity of extracellular polymeric substances isolated from marine biofilm bacteria.
 681 *Scientific Reports* **9(1)**:17849.
 682 **Smith DR, Beekey MA, Brockmann HJ, King TL, Millard MJ, Zaldivar-Rae JA. 2016.**
 683 *Limulus polyphemus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T11987A80159830.
 684 Available at <https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T11987A80159830.en>
 685 (accessed 18 February 2022).
 686 **Smith DR, Brockmann HJ, Beekey MA, King TL, Millard MJ, Zaldivar-Rae J. 2017.**
 687 Conservation status of the American horseshoe crab, (*Limulus polyphemus*): a regional
 688 assessment. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* **27(1)**:135–175.
 689 **Smith OR. 1953.** Notes on the ability of the horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus*, to locate soft-
 690 shell clams, *Mya arenaria*. *Ecology* **34(3)**:636–637.
 691 **Su Z, Qiu G, Fan H, Li M, Fang C. 2020.** Changes in carbon storage and macrobenthic
 692 communities in a mangrove-seagrass ecosystem after the invasion of smooth cordgrass in
 693 southern China. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **152**:110887.
 694 **Tinker-Kulberg R, Dellinger K, Brady TE, Robertson L, Levy JH, Abood SK, LaDuca FM,**
 695 **Kepley CL, Dellinger AL. 2020.** Horseshoe crab aquaculture as a sustainable endotoxin
 696 testing source. *Frontiers in Marine Science* **7**:153.
 697 **Tsuchiya K. 2009.** The history of horseshoe crab research and conservation in Japan. In:
 698 Tanacredi JT, Botton ML, Smith DR, eds. *Biology and Conservation of Horseshoe Crabs*.
 699 New York: Springer, 559–570.
 700 **Vasquez MC, Johnson SL, Brockmann HJ, Julian D. 2015.** Nest site selection minimizes
 701 environmental stressor exposure in the American horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus* (L.).
 702 *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **463**:105–114.
 703 **Wang C-C, Chen RF, Yang X, Wen Y, Kuang Y, Zhang C, Zhu J, Kwan KY. 2022.** Asian
 704 horseshoe crab bycatch in intertidal zones of the northern Beibu Gulf: Suggestions for
 705 conservation management. *Journal of Ocean University of China* **21(3)**:611–621.
 706 **Wang C-C, Kwan KY, Shin PKS, Cheung SG, Itaya S, Iwasaki Y, Cai L, Mohamad F, Fozi**
 707 **NF, Zauki NA, Raman NJA, Chatterji A, Tripathy B, Sajan S, Min WW, Tan LJX,**
 708 **Supadminingsih FN, Wardiatno Y, Hsieh H-L. 2020.** Future of Asian horseshoe crab
 709 conservation under explicit baseline gaps: A global perspective. *Global Ecology and*
 710 *Conservation* **24**:e01373.
 711 **Wang D, Zhang R, Xiong J, Guo H-Q, Zhao B. 2015.** Contribution of invasive species
 712 *Spartina alterniflora* to soil organic carbon pool in coastal wetland: Stable isotope approach.
 713 *Chin Journal of Plant Ecology* **39(10)**:941–949.

714 **Whomersley P, Van der Molen J, Holt D, Trundle C, Clark S, Fletcher D. 2018.** Modeling
715 the dispersal of spiny lobster (*Palinurus elephas*) larvae: Implications for future fisheries
716 management and conservation measures. *Frontiers in Marine Sciences* **5**:58.

717 **Wyse GA. 1971.** Receptor organization and function in *Limulus* chelae. *Journal of Comparative*
718 *Physiology* (previously *Zeitschrift für vergleichende Physiologie*) **73**:249–273.

719 **Xie X, Wu Z, Wang C-C, Fu Y, Wang X, Xu P, Huang X, Liao Y, Huang SL, Kwan KY.**
720 **2020.** Nursery habitat for Asian horseshoe crabs along the northern Beibu Gulf, China:
721 Implications for conservation management under baseline gaps. *Aquatic Conservation-Marine*
722 *and Freshwater Ecosystems* **30**(2):260–272.

723 **Xu P, Bai H, Xie X, Wang C-C, Huang X, Wang X, Zhang M, Ye Z, Zhu J, Zhen W,**
724 **Cheung SG, Shin PKS, Kwan KY. 2021.** Tri-spine horseshoe crab aquaculture, ranching
725 and stock enhancement: Perspectives and challenges. *Frontiers in Marine Science* **8**:608155.

726 **Zauki NAM, Satyanarayana B, Fairuz-Fozi N, Nelson BR, Martin MB, Akbar-John B,**
727 **Chowdhury AJK. 2019.** Horseshoe crab bio-ecological data from Balok, East Coast
728 Peninsular Malaysia. *Data Brief* **22**:458–463.

729 **Zhang Y, Pennings SC, Liu Z, Li B, Wu J. 2021.** Consistent pattern of higher lability of leaves
730 from high latitudes for both native *Phragmites australis* and exotic *Spartina alterniflora*.
731 *Functional Ecology* **35**(9):2084–2093.

732 **Zhou HC, Wei SD, Zeng Q, Zhang LH, Tam NFY, Lin YM. 2010.** Nutrient and caloric
733 dynamics in *Avicennia marina* leaves at different developmental and decay stages in
734 Zhangjiang River Estuary, China. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* **87**(1):21–26.

735